FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/22/2023 3:11 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 101733-2 (COA No. 84009-6-I)

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

JULIA A. BARNETT, M.D.,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, WASHINGTON STATE PERSONNEL RESOURCES BOARD,

Respondents.

On Appeal From Snohomish County Superior Court

DR. BARNETT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW Corrected

Gregory M. Miller, WSBA No. 14459
CARNEY BADLEY SPELLMAN, P.S.
701 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3600
Seattle, Washington 98104
Telephone: (206) 622-8020
miller@carneylaw.com
Attorneys for Petitioner

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Julia A. Barnett, M.D., Appellant below, asks the Court to grant review per RAP 13.4(b) of Division I's published decision affirming dismissal of her petition for a writ of review or constitutional certiorari ("Writ Petition") of the judicial-like, three-day evidentiary review hearing conducted by the Personnel Resources Board ("PRB's") of Dr. Barnett's dismissal by the Department of Corrections ("DOC"). The dismissal and appeal were made without review of the underlying record, which the agencies refused to produce, fearing scrutiny.

This case asks whether an agency decision to terminate a public employee which is reviewed by the PRB in a judicial-like proceeding is subject to a statutory or constitutional writ of review despite RCW 41.06.170(2) which provides that its decisions "shall be final and not subject to further appeal." There is no speedy and adequate remedy at law since there are no allegations or evidence in this meager record of wrongful

discharge in violation of public policy. Speculation on an empty

record does not create an adequate remedy.

Division I's conclusion that the PRB was not acting in a

judicial or quasi-judicial capacity is inconsistent with the facts,

applicable law, and with RCW 7.16.040, which governs statutory

writs. Petitioner's focus before the PRB was on DOC's violation

of the applicable statutes, agency rules, and procedures,

essentially breaching of the terms of her employment, a breach

of contract claim traditionally heard by the courts. Her Writ

Petition asserted the DOC proceedings and the hearing before the

PRB were fundamentally unlawful and unfair proceedings due in

part to the breaches of the applicable statutes and agency rules.

This case shows the need to clarify that *State ex rel. Hood*

v. State Pers. Board, 82 Wn.2d 396, 511 P.2d 52 (1973), relied

on by the Decision and which involved a dispute over an appeal

of one state agency from a PRB decision, does not apply when

the PRB decision is challenged by an individual employee, who

has fundamental rights at stake. That review of public agency

employment dismissals by a writ is proper and needed to secure their fundamental rights is shown by later decisions expressly cutting *Hood* back to give relief to discharged public employees. See Williams v. Seattle Sch. Dist., 97 Wn.2d 215, 643 P.2d 426 (1982); Pierce County Sheriff v. Civ. Serv. Comm. of Pierce Cnty., 98 Wn.2d 690, 658 P.2d 648 (1983). In light of every person's fundamental right to be free of arbitrary and capricious agency action, 1 as well as to access to the courts under the Washington Constitution,² the decision in *Hood* that the superior court had no jurisdiction to entertain a writ proceeding brought by the Liquor Control Board challenging the PRB's personnel decision has no application to a case such as Dr. Barnett's where the affected employee seeks judicial review.

The Court also should address whether a superior court presented with a writ application can exercise its discretion to

¹ See Williams and Pierce County Sheriff, supra.

² See Art. I, sec. 10; Putman v. Wenatchee Valley Med. Ctr., 166 Wn.2d 974, 979, 216 P.3d 374 (2009); and Martin v. Wash. State Dep't. of Corrections, 199 Wn.2d 557, 510 P.3d 321 (2022).

grant or deny relief without having the administrative record to review. Allowing agencies to stonewall production of the record while purporting to determine if a writ is available is contrary to this Court's decisions dating to *Crouch v. Ross*, 83 Wash. 73, 145 P. 87 (1914), and more recent decisions.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals' published decision ("Decision") was filed December 19, 2022, App. A-1-18, and reconsideration was denied on January 20, 2023. App. B-1. Despite the lack of the underlying administrative record, the Decision affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Dr. Barnett's petition for a writ of review or certiorari focusing on three primary points. First, that the PRB was not "exercising a 'judicial function' that would subject it to a statutory writ of review by a superior court." Decision at 2, App. A-2. Second, the trial court did not abuse its "significant discretion" when it found that there were "other legal options available" to Dr. Barnett, defeating the constitutional writ. *Id.* Third, "there is no authority holding a superior court

must receive and review the entire record" before "assessing the

preliminary aspects of either writ," id., or in the language of the

decisions, before exercising its discretion on whether to issue a

writ granting requested relief. E.g., Bridle Trails Community

Club v. City of Bellevue, 45 Wn.App. 248, 251-254, 722 P.2d

1110 (1986) (reversing and remanding for the trial court to

exercise its discretion on the full record of whether to grant

relief under its inherent, constitutional powers).

Finally, the Decision held that *State ex rel Hood* is still

sufficiently good law to control the issue of whether a public

employee can get access to judicial review of a termination

decision because it is merely a "personnel administration or

management matter." Decision at 7-10, App. A-7-10. First,

whatever may have been the situation in Hood in 1973, an

employment dismissal decision is hardly a mere "personnel

management matter" or there would have been no relief given

the public employees in Williams and Pierce County Sheriff.

Moreover, here the appeal to the PRB for failure to adhere to

DOC's own rules and governing statutes is in the nature of a

breach of contract action, which has been the province of the

courts for centuries.

Second, this conclusion and reliance on *Hood's* language

to deny review of a public employee dismissal is called into

question by the relief this Court gave to public employees in

Williams and Pierce County Sheriff as well as the factual posture

of Hood. See Hood, 82 Wn.2d at 402-403 (explaining that

arbitrary and capricious agency action "alone would not support

judicial review of the agency's action....such action also must be

violative of a fundamental right before the judiciary's inherent

constitutional power of review comes into being...The Liquor

Control Board has informed us of no fundamental statutory

rights, peculiar to it, that have been violated by the Personnel

Board's action.").

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Does the Personnel Resources Board engage in judicial or quasi-judicial action by conducting a hearing with live witnesses, where the parties are represented by counsel, the Board issues detailed "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order of the Board" (CP 299) which purport to adjudicate claimed violations of applicable civil service statutes and regulations a functional "breach of contract" claim and apply the law to determine the existence of "just cause" for discharge (CP 313-14), and to determine that (CP 316, ¶5.14) "the investigation, pre-disciplinary and procedural process was consistent with the applicable rules, regulations and pursuant to fair and unbiased dismissal procedures"?
- 2. Can a discharged public employee have a remedy at law against the firing agency for wrongful termination by breach of the governing statutes and regulations after a determination by the PRB upholding the discharge as "consistent with the applicable rules, regulations and pursuant to fair and unbiased dismissal procedures," or is any potential remedy against the firing agency precluded?
- 3. Did the lower courts err by determining whether a statutory or constitutional writ could issue without having the record to review?
- 4. Does *State ex rel. Hood* restrict review of public employee termination decisions after the writ relief provided public employees in *Williams v. Seattle School Dist.*, and *Pierce County Sheriff v. Pierce County*, the renewed emphasis on ensuring meaningful access to the courts, and the fact that the opposing parties in *Hood* were both state agencies with no fundamental rights at issue to trigger writ review?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Dr. Barnett's Writ Petition states the background:

The Respondent Department hired and employed Petitioner as a staff physician and the Facility Medical Director at its Monroe Correctional Complex in Monroe, Washington from March 2017 until April, 2019.

Department personnel suspended Dr. Barnett in October, 2018, by means and meetings which violated her rights under applicable regulations and due process by, among other things, failing to properly and timely notify her of specific charges or specific issues or cases, failing to give her an opportunity to respond or prepare for review of patient records, and failing to give her the opportunity for a fair hearing with witnesses before taking adverse action. These and other deficiencies in the Department's adverse actions taken Petitioner, particularly as related to the Department's allegations and the evidence as to the medical care as to the specific patients at issue, are detailed in Petitioner's May 15, 2019 notice of appeal to the Board, in her February 25, 2020 Prehearing Brief to the Board, and in the Board proceedings.

The Department also erroneously terminated Petitioner from both her positions as Facility Medical Director and a Staff Physician 3 despite the decision-maker Dr. Hernandez's conclusion in his "Determination of Sanction" that he was not critical of her skills as a physician, but only in "your ability to perform your duties as the FMD" because, as the Facility Medical Director, she has lost her supervisory "trust", thus leaving no lawful basis to terminate her employment as a Staff Physician 3. This also is detailed in Petitioner's

notice of appeal to the Board and the proceedings before the Board.

These and other facts presented at the Board hearing demonstrate that the Department did not have a proper factual or legal basis for its termination of Petitioner from both her positions at the Monroe Complex, and provided a proper basis for appeal to the Board.

CP 290-291. The Petition describes the PRB as:

the administrative agency that conducts hearings for Washington State civil service employees who wish to appeal adverse actions from a State employer, including the Department. It acted in a judicial capacity by holding a hearing, taking evidence, and issuing its Findings and Conclusions and Final Order dated September 24, 2021 ("Board Decision") in this case denying Petitioner's challenge to the termination of her employment....The Board's statutory structure does not provide for further appeal. *See* RCW 41.06.170(2): "Decisions of the Washington personnel resources board on appeals filed after June 30, 2005, shall be final and not subject to further appeal."

CP 291. Indeed, the PRB's decision's title reinforces its judicial nature: "FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW AND ORDER OF THE BOARD." CP 299. So does the text of the PRB's decision.

The Petition details the failings in both the DOC's dismissal process and the PRB's review proceeding that meant

she had been subjected to arbitrary and capricious actions or

proceedings which otherwise were illegal, erroneous, or not in

accord with the common law. See CP 291-296, setting out the

facts and law justifying review under RCW 7.16.040, which

provides for review "whenever an inferior tribunal, board or

officer, exercising judicial functions, has exceeded the

jurisdiction of such tribunal, board or officer, or one acting

illegally, or to correct any erroneous or void proceeding, or a

proceeding not according to the course of the common law, and

there is no appeal, nor in the judgment of the court, any plain,

speedy and adequate remedy at law." CP 296, quoting the statute

(emphasis added).

The statutory writ was pleaded first because it permits a

much broader scope of review, as indicated in the emphasized

portions of the statute. The Respondents' actions of refusing to

provide the record raise the question of what "erroneous

proceeding," or "proceeding not according to the common law"

may have occurred in the conduct of the hearing, which cannot

be ascertained from the self-justifying written decision.

Division I's Decision used a summary formula for the

criteria for granting a statutory writ from decisions in 1998 and

1992, a summary originating in a challenge to a zoning

amendment, not an employment dismissal decision.

Decision at 5, App. A-6 hereto, citing to Raynes v. City of

Leavenworth, 118 Wn.2d 237, 243-245, 821 P.2d 1204 (1992) as

quoted in Wa. Pub. Emps. Ass'n v. Wash Pers. Res. Board, 91

Wn.App. 640, 646, 959 P.2d 143 (1998) ("WPEA v. WaPRB").

The City of Leavenworth summary did not specify two critical

criteria for issuing a writ: "to correct any erroneous or void

proceeding, or a proceeding not according to the course of the

common law," criteria much more commonly at issue in

employment dismissals than in zoning decisions.

The City of Leavenworth decision then proceeded to

clarify the determination of "when a given action is quasi judicial

or legislative in relation to the writ," setting out four factors from

earlier decisions, and ruled the zoning action at issue did not

qualify. Id. The factors are:

(1) whether the court could have been charged with the

duty at issue in the first instance; (2) whether the courts have historically performed such duties; (3) whether the

action of the municipal corporation involves application of

existing law to past or present facts for the purpose of

declaring or enforcing liability rather than a response to

changing conditions through the enactment of a new

general law of prospective application; and (4) whether the

action more clearly resembles the ordinary business of courts, as opposed to those of legislators or administrators.

City of Leavenworth, 118 Wn.2d at 244-245, citing earlier

decisions. Division II's decision in WPEA v. WaPRB gives a

good example of application of the factors to conclude the

actions in question, there the PRB's adjudication of an unfair

labor complaint, were indeed judicial in nature. Id., 91

Wn.App. at 646-649.

As is seen from the PRB's decision, and keeping in

mind the nature of Dr. Barnett's appeal in challenging the

dismissal essentially as a breach of contract - the state and

agency statutes, rules, and procedures governing her public

employment – these factors demonstrate the PRB in this case

acted in a judicial capacity, as the trial judge surmised in his footnote.

The PRB's decision itself notes that Dr. Barnett's appeal was over the evidence and procedures and substance governing her dismissal by DOC. For instance, at the outset of the PRB decision, it states:

1.3 Nature of Appeal. This is an appeal of a dismissal. Dr. Julia Barnett appealed her employment dismissal from her Facility Medical Director position at the Monroe Correctional Complex (MCC) effective April 18, 2019. Dr. Barnett disagrees with the Respondent's findings of alleged misconduct as it applies to the medical standard of care and causation under RCW 7.70, et seq. Dr. Barnett noted an alternative to her dismissal would have been evaluation, assistance, education, and training, followed by mentoring, a probationary period, or removal from her Facility Medical Director position and demoting her to a Physician 3 position.

CP 299.

In its conclusions of law, the PRB decision demonstrates how it is doing the work of the courts, applying facts to the governing law and statutes. First, it purports to adjudicate claimed violations of applicable civil service statutes and regulations – Dr. Barnett's functional "breach of contract" claim

– and apply the law to determine the existence of "just cause" for discharge. CP 313-14. It's final conclusion is the determination that "the investigation, pre-disciplinary and procedural process was consistent with the applicable rules, regulations and pursuant to fair and unbiased dismissal procedures." CP 316, ¶5.14. That is precisely the work of the courts when confronted with a claimed violation of a worker's employment rights.

V. REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW.

- A. Review should be granted per RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3) and (4) because the Decision fails to follow this Court's precedent, is inconsistent with published Court of Appeals Decisions, presents a significant question under the Washington Constitution, and presents an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by this Court.
 - 1. Review should be granted because the Decision is inconsistent with application of this Court's settled law on what constitutes judicial or quasi judicial action.

As discussed *supra*, the PRB decision easily meets the four factors for determining if an action is judicial or quasi judicial, especially when remembering the posture of the appeal brought by Dr. Barnett of holding DOC to its own statutes, rules,

and regulations – her employment contract terms – and seeking vindication of her fundamental rights. Breach of contract claims normally are brought to court in the first instance, and have been so historically. As to the third factor, the PRB decision itself purports to apply existing law to past or present facts for the purpose of enforcing liability against Dr. Barnett. *See* CP 316, ¶5.14, quoted *supra*. Finally, as noted by the Court of Appeals in *WPEA v. WaPRB*, the formal hearing with witnesses, evidence, and counsel and detailed written findings and conclusions much "more clearly resembles the ordinary business of courts, as opposed to those of legislators or administrators." *See WPEA v. WaPRB*, 91 Wn.App. at 468-469.³

_

While distinguishing *Hood*, the Court of Appeals in *WPEA* v. *WaPRB* focused on the critical determination in *Hood* which was couched in terms of "personnel policy and administration" and thus not the traditional province of the courts. 91 Wn.App. at 650. But in this case, as its own decision shows, the PRB was not making personnel policy decisions. It was adjudicating based on the facts and governing law whether the policies which had been adopted were in fact followed or whether Dr. Barnett's statutory or procedural rights had been violated – precisely the work of the courts.

2. The Decision is inconsistent with this Court's and published Court of Appeals decisions because it dismissed Petitioner's writ petition despite the fact she has no adequate remedy at law since the tort of wrongful discharge for violation of public policy does not apply to her core complaint, which is a breach of contract and denial of due process in the procedures and rules applicable to public

The Decision is also premised on the erroneous proposition that Dr. Barnett has an adequate remedy at law against DOC for wrongful discharge. In this case there is no wrongful discharge case for breach of contract that was brought. Dr. Barnett's complaint is premised on the breach of her statutory "contract" rights of employment and due process inherent in the statutes and regulations governing DOC, as well as the

employees.

It is settled that those concerns do not constitute a basis for bringing an action for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy. To the extent the Decision concluded Dr. Barnett has an adequate remedy at law, it is in conflict with the law on wrongful

DR. BARNETT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW Corrected - 16

constitution.

discharge in violation of public policy. Division III recently summarized the law under this Court's decisions:

¶55 To demonstrate a prima facie case for wrongful termination in violation of public policy, the plaintiff must produce evidence that her "termination was motivated by reasons that contravene an important mandate of public policy." *Becker v. Cmty. Health Sys., Inc.*, 184 Wn.2d 252, 258, 359 P.3d 746 (2015). "[T]he burden [then] shifts to the employer to prove that the dismissal was for reasons other than those alleged by the employee." *Thompson v. St. Regis Paper Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 219, 232-33, 685 P.2d 1081 (1984). The tort for wrongful discharge in violation of public policy is generally limited to four scenarios:

"(1) where employees are fired for refusing to commit an illegal act; (2) where employees are fired for performing a public duty or obligation, such as serving jury duty; (3) where employees are fired for exercising a legal right or privilege, such as filing workers' compensation claims; and (4) where employees are fired in retaliation for reporting employer misconduct, i.e., whistle-blowing."

Martin v. Gonzaga Univ., 191 Wn.2d 712, 723, 425 P.3d 837 (2018) (quoting Gardner v. Loomis Armored, Inc., 128 Wn.2d 931, 936, 913 P.2d 377 (1996)).

Suarez v. State, 23 Wn.App.2d 609, 631–32, 517 P.3d 474, (2022), review granted, ___ Wn.2d ___ (Feb. 8, 2023).

There is no allegation in this case that Dr. Barnett was

discharged in violation of public policy. Her case was expressly

premised on the claim that DOC failed to follow its own policies

and procedures such that she did not get the benefit of the

applicable rules governing her employment - a breach of

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