FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
3/30/2023 3:53 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 101733-2

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

JULIA A. BARNETT, M.D.,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS, WASHINGTON STATE PERSONNEL RESOURCES BOARD,

Respondents.

### DEPARTMENT OF CORRECTIONS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

SUSAN DANPULLO WSBA No. 24249 DARCEY J. ELLIOTT WSBA No. 43855 Assistant Attorneys General P.O. Box 40145 Olympia, WA 98504-0145 360-664-4188 OID No. 91023

### **

### I. INTRODUCTION

This case involves a decision soundly within the discretion of the superior court, i.e., determining whether Julia Barnett met the required threshold showing for the superior court to issue a statutory writ or a constitutional writ. None of the factors in RAP 13.4(b) apply to this case, as the Court of Appeals' decision below does not contradict precedent from this Court or the Court of Appeals, and does not present a significant constitutional question or issue of substantial public interest.

Barnett<sup>1</sup> demonstrated poor judgment when treating several patients in the custody of the Department of Corrections (DOC), resulting in unnecessary and debilitating pain and distress for those patients. As a result, DOC terminated Barnett's employment as the agency's Facility Medical Director. Barnett appealed her termination to the Personnel Resources Board (Board), which upheld her termination. Disagreeing with

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Julia Barnett's medical license has been suspended, so we refer to her as Barnett, instead of Doctor Barnett.

the result, Barnett filed a petition for extraordinary writs (statutory and constitutional) in superior court.

The superior court properly declined to issue either of the writs based on the substantial records before it. Barnett appealed that decision, based solely on the issue that the superior court did not first order the entire administrative record. The Court of Appeals upheld the superior court's denial of both writs, specifically finding that the Board did not exercise a judicial function as required for a statutory writ and that it was within the court's broad discretion to deny the constitutional writ. This Court should deny review.

### II. ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Did the Court of Appeals correctly determine that the Board does not perform a judicial function when it reviews discipline of a state employee?
- 2. Did the superior court properly deny Barnett's statutory and constitutional writs without ordering the production of the entire administrative record because she failed to meet the proper threshold showing for such writs?
- 3. Did the Court of Appeals properly rely on part of *State ex rel. Hood* when applying it in light of the

- decisions in *Williams v. Seattle School District* and *Pierce County Sheriff v. Pierce County?*
- 4. Does a public employee have a remedy at law for an alleged unlawful termination before or after the Board upholds the termination on appeal?

### III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE FACTS

### A. Factual Background

Barnett was employed as Facility Medical Director at Monroe Correctional Complex with DOC, until her termination on April 18, 2019. CP 105. Before terminating her employment, DOC completed its standard protocols for an internal just cause investigation, which included notice to the employee of the intent to impose discipline and a pre-disciplinary meeting where she was given the opportunity to address the allegations. CP 115. Thereafter, the appointing authority determined there was just cause for her termination. CP 105-31. Barnett's termination was based on substantiated charges that she violated the DOC Health Plan, multiple DOC policies, and job expectations included in her position description and performance development plan, which resulted in unnecessary suffering and harm to six patients during the period of January 16, 2018, through September 10, 2018. CP 105-31 (*see* CP 125 for the specific list of policies violated). All six patients referred to in the termination letter had serious medical issues, some of which were life threatening. CP 105-24.

DOC found that Barnett's actions or lack of action, caused needless suffering to her patients. CP 105-109. Additionally, DOC determined that termination was appropriate because Barnett failed to advocate for these patients and delayed emergency medical care that was essential to life and that caused significant deteriorations in patients' medical conditions. CP 130.

### B. Procedural History

As a Washington Management Service (WMS) employee, Barnett was entitled to a hearing to review DOC's disciplinary decision before the Board, which has the authority to review state civil service employees' discipline. *See* RCW 41.06.170(2), (3). Barnett timely filed her appeal with the Board. CP 101-102. The Board conducted a three-day hearing on October 27-29, 2020.

CP 299. At the hearing, the Board received over 1,200 pages of exhibits and heard testimony from all witnesses offered by both parties. CP 299-317 (Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order of the Board.) The Board issued its decision almost a year later, on September 24, 2021, wherein it affirmed the disciplinary action taken by DOC. CP 299-317.

Barnett filed a Petition and Application for Writ of Review or for a Constitutional Writ of Certiorari (Petition) in Snohomish County Superior Court, naming both DOC and the Board as Respondents. CP 289-297. The Petition laid out a variety of errors allegedly committed by the Board. CP 289-297. Both Respondents filed responses opposing issuance of either writ. DOC's Response to Petition, CP 252-266, (supporting declaration CP 101-251); Board's Response in Opposition to Petition, CP 42-100. Ultimately, the superior court declined to issue either writ. Order Denying Writ, CP 6-7. In its decision, the superior court specifically stated that it made a complete review of all filings and found that the Board did not act illegally or

exceed its authority. CP 6-7. In addition, the court found that Barnett had other remedies at law available. CP 6-7.

Barnett sought direct review of the superior court's order by the Supreme Court under RAP 4.2(a)(4). See Statement of Grounds for Direct Review. The Supreme Court declined direct review and transferred the case to the Court of Appeals Division I. Wash. State Dep't of Corr. v. Barnett, \_\_\_\_ Wn.App.2d \_\_\_\_, 522 P.3d 52, (Wash. Ct. App. Div. 1, 2022). In her opening brief, Barnett stated that she "appeals on the sole issue of whether the record is required for a writ review of [the Board's] action." Barnett's Opening Brief at 2; see also, Barnett 522 P.3d at 56. Barnett's only assignment of error was that the trial court "failed to require the agency to first produce its record" before determining whether writ relief was warranted. Opening Brief at 8. The Court of Appeals upheld the superior court's denial of either writ in a published decision. *Barnett*, 522 P.3d at 52. The Court of Appeals specifically found that the Board did not exercise a judicial function as required for a statutory writ. *Id.* at

56-57. The Court of Appeals further explained that "there is no authority holding that a superior court must receive and review the entire record or hold a hearing before assessing the preliminary aspects of either writ." *Id.* at 54. Finally, the Court of Appeals determined that the superior court did not abuse its discretion in finding there were other legal options available. *Id.* at 58. The Court also concluded that the "law is well established that discretion can be exercised when *no other adequate remedy at law* is available and when the decision below is arbitrary, capricious, or contrary to law." *Id.* at 58 (quoting *Torrance v. King Cntv.*, 136 Wn.2d 783, 787-88, 966 P.2d 891 (1998)).

### IV. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

This Court should deny Barnett's Petition for Discretionary Review because none of the factors in RAP 13.4(b) apply to this case. The Court of Appeals' decision below does not contradict precedent from this Court or the Court of Appeals and does not present a significant constitutional question or issue of substantial public interest. The sole issue Barnett appealed was

the superior court's failure to first obtain the entire administrative record of the Board before determining if a statutory writ or constitutional writ should be issued, and the Court should reject Barnett's attempt to introduce new issues on appeal at this late stage.

# A. Review Should Be Denied Because the Court of Appeals' Decision Is Consistent with Well Settled Law That Employment Discipline Reviewed by the Board Is Not a Judicial Function

A statutory writ is an extraordinary remedy granted by statute, which should be used sparingly. *City of Seattle v. Holifield*, 170 Wn.2d 230, 239-40, 240 P.3d 1162 (2010) (citations omitted). "Although the writ [of review] may be convenient, no authority supports its use as a matter of expediency." *Dep't of Lab. & Indus. v. Bd. of Indus. Ins. Appeals*, 186 Wn. App. 240, 246–47, 347 P.3d 63 (2015) (citations and internal quotations omitted).

RCW 7.16.040 provides the following requirements and exceptions for a statutory writ:

A writ of review shall be granted by any court, except a municipal or district court, when an inferior tribunal, board or officer, exercising judicial functions, has [1] exceeded the jurisdiction of such tribunal, board or officer, or one acting illegally, or [2] to correct any erroneous or void proceeding, or a proceeding not according to the course of the common law, and there is no appeal, nor in the judgment of the court, any plain, speedy and adequate remedy at law.

A superior court may grant a statutory writ of review only if the requirements in RCW 7.16.040 are satisfied. *Bd. of Indus. Ins. Appeals*, 186 Wn. App. at 245. To issue a writ of review the superior court must find: 1) the decision is from an inferior tribunal or board, 2) *exercising judicial functions*, 3) which has either exceeded its jurisdiction or acted illegally, *and* 4) there is no adequate remedy at law. *Raynes v. City of Leavenworth*, 118 Wn.2d 237, 244, 821 P.2d 1204 (1992) (emphasis added); *see* RCW 7.16.040. All four elements must be met. *Clark Cnty. PUD v. Wilkinson, et al.*, 139 Wn.2d 840, 845, 991 P.2d 1161 (2000) (citations omitted).

Washington courts apply four factors to determine whether an administrative agency's action is nonjudicial: 1) a court could not have been charged with making the agency's decision; 2) courts have not historically determined personnel management questions; 3) the Board did not have to apply existing law to present facts to make its determination; and 4) the hearing more closely resembled the business of administrators than that of courts. *Raynes*, 118 Wn.2d at 244-45.

The Court of Appeals opinion holding that the Board was not exercising a judicial function is consistent with a long line of cases. *Barnett*, 522 P.3d at 56-57. For example, this Court held that "the function of the Board, in hearing and determining appeals from employees who have been dismissed for cause by their employing agency is nonjudical in nature." *State ex rel. Hood v Wash. Pers. Bd.*, 82 Wn.2d 396, 401, 511 P.2d 52 (1973) (overruled on other grounds by *Pierce Cnty. Sheriff v. Civ. Serv. Comm'n of Pierce Cnty.*, 98 Wn.2d 690, 658 P.2d 648 (1983)); *accord, Jones v. Pers. Res. Bd.*, 134 Wn. App. 560, 572, 140 P.3d

636 (2006) (holding the hearing at the Board was essentially a personnel matter). See also, Pierce Cnty. Sheriff, 98 Wn.2d at 693 (acknowledging that Hood was "almost squarely on point" when determining that RCW 7.16.040 did not permit a decision of the Board to be appealed because the Board was not exercising a judicial function). Similarly, this Court has stated that personnel policy and management, including appeals from disciplinary action, are "essentially an administrative or executive function rather than a function historically or traditionally resting with the judicial branch of government." Gogerty v. Dep't of Insts., 71 Wn.2d 1, 5, 426 P.2d 476 (1967).

In essence, in a disciplinary appeal, the Board steps into the shoes of the State as employer and is free to use its personnel expertise to affirm, modify, or reverse the discipline. *Dunaway v. Dep't of Soc. & Health Servs.*, 90 Wn.2d 112, 115, 579 P.2d 362 (1978). "Any other approach would result in an inflexibility inconsistent with the orderly, swift and just disposition of merit system appeals." *Dunaway*, 90 Wn.2d at 115 (citing *State Pers*.

Comm'n v. Webb, 18 Ariz. App. 69, 500 P.2d 329 (1972)); WAC 357-52-170.

Nor is the nature of the hearing—i.e., witness testimony, presentation of evidence, etc.—dispositive. Rather, the fact that an administrative agency holds a hearing, takes testimony, resolves disputed questions of fact, and enters findings of fact and conclusions of law, does not make the agency's functions judicial rather than administrative. *Green v. Cowlitz Cnty. Civil Serv. Comm'n*, 19 Wn. App. 210, 215, 577 P.2d 141 (1978); *accord Jones*, 134 Wn. App. at 571.

By contrast, the only time the Board has been found to exercise a judicial function was in the context of a labor dispute, in an unfair labor practice complaint, since those decisions are common to the court. *Wash. Pub. Emps. Ass'n v. Wash. Pers. Res. Bd.*, 91 Wn. App. 640, 959 P.2d 143 (1998). *See also* RCW 41.56.160(1) (an unfair labor practice complaint may be filed with the Public Employment Relations Commission (PERC) or in *superior court.*) The *Washington Public Employees* 

Association case does not demonstrate a conflict in court decisions; instead, the court was addressing the Board's role in an unfair labor practice, not a discipline case.

Barnett relies on *Williams v. Seattle School District No. 1* and *Pierce County Sheriff,* in an attempt to show they are in conflict with *Hood* related to the Board's nonjudical function. Instead, in both cases, the discussion that "disapproved" of the holding in *Hood* related only to a constitutional writ under the courts' inherent power of review. *Williams v. Seattle Sch. Dist. No. 1,* 97 Wn.2d 215, 221, 643 P.2d 426 (1982); *Pierce Cnty. Sheriff* 98 Wn.2d at 693. *Williams* did not involve the Board at all and thus, unsurprisingly, did not hold that the Board acts in a judicial capacity.

In order to claim that the Board acted in a judicial capacity, Barnett asserts that her appeal to the Board was essentially a breach of contract claim. That is, that her employment contract terms, which she defines as DOC's statute, rules and regulations, were violated. Corrected Petition for Review at 14-15. However,

employment breach of contract claims may not be used to circumvent the civil service law. Weber v. State, Dep't of Corr., 78 Wn. App. 607, 608, 898 P.2d 345 (1995). "In Washington, terms and conditions of public employment are controlled by statute, not by contract." Id. at 610 (footnote omitted), citing Wash. Fed'n of State Emps. v. State, 101 Wn.2d 536, 682 P.2d 869 (1984); Greig v. Metzler, 33 Wn. App. 223, 653 P.2d 1346 (1982).

Here, the Board's decision was nonjudicial because a court could not have been charged with deciding whether DOC properly applied its policies and procedures in Barnett's dismissal review. *See Jones*, 134 Wn. App. at 571 (reasoning court could not have decided employee grievance where Board analyzed internal agency documents). As in *Jones*, the Board was tasked with evaluating the agency's personnel actions rather than DOC statutes or WACs. *Id.* Moreover, courts have not historically determined personnel management questions, such as whether DOC properly applied its policies and processes in

Barnett's termination appeal. *Barnett*, 522 P.3d at 56-57, citing *Gogerty*, 71 Wn.2d at 5.

Prior to creation of the [PRB], state employees had no express employment rights which were within the power of the courts to protect. Personnel administration was left exclusively to the discretion of management. Thus, there were no functions which the courts had or even could have performed prior to the creation of the [PRB]

Id. at 56, quoting Williams, 97 Wn.2d at 221.

There is no support for review by this Court due to a conflict with Supreme Court or Court of Appeals opinions.

Therefore, this Court should deny review.

## B. Review is Not Warranted Under RAP 13.4(b) as This Court Has Already Established That *Hood* is Still Good Law

Barnett argues that review should be granted to consider the continued applicability of *Hood* after the intervening decisions in *Pierce County Sheriff* and *Williams*. Corrected Petition for Review at 20. But this Court has already concluded that *Hood* remains good law after those decisions. *Pierce Cnty. Sheriff*, 98 Wn.2d at 693 (citing *Hood*, 82 Wn.2d at 396; RCW

7.16.040); Williams, 97 Wn.2d at 221. Neither Pierce County Sheriff nor Williams changed the holding in Hood that the Board does not perform a judicial function. Further, both cases clarified what could be considered for a constitutional writ.

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